IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

NOV 25 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Other Deputy Clerk

HERBERT HASTINGS and AMERICAN SIGN COMPANY, INC., a Florida corporation,

Petitioners,

Case No: -89, 1/30

vs.

District Court of Appeal 2nd District No. 96-00368

CHARLES DEMMING and DIANA DEMMING, Husband and Wife,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SKIPPER & DAY
Jesse L. Skipper
Fla. Bar No. 0784990
Suite 500
2600 Ninth Street North
St. Petersburg, FL 33704
Tel: (813) 821-2889
Fax: (813) 823-7478
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONERS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 20, 1993, Plaintiff/Respondent Richard Demming was injured in an accident when the truck-mounted ladder he was standing on collapsed due to sudden breakage of steel cables supporting it. Am. Compl. ¶ 13. He initially filed a products and joined liability suit against the ladder manufacturer, Petitioners as defendants in May 1995. Am. Compl. Petitioner American Sign Co. was Plaintiff's employer at the time of the accident. Am. Compl. ¶ 9. Petitioner Hastings was a shareholder, director, and officer of American Sign Company. Am. Compl. ¶ 7. In order to overcome workers' compensation immunity pursuant to the exclusive remedy provisions of § 440.11, Florida Statutes, Plaintiffs alleged that Petitioners were guilty of culpable negligence, gross negligence, and intentional tort for failing to properly maintain the ladder. Am.Compl. ¶ 65. pleadings also admitted that the accident occurred within the course and scope of Mr. Demming's employment. Am. Compl. ¶ 11.

After taking discovery, both Petitioners moved for summary judgment on the grounds that, based on the facts developed in discovery, there was no genuine dispute that Petitioners were entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law. See, Motion for Summary Judgment, 10/25/95. The trial court denied both motions, without findings or other elaboration. T.C.Ord. 12/27/95.

Petitioners timely sought interlocutory review under Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), Fla.R.App.P. Respondents first raised the jurisdictional issue in their Answer Brief, arguing that the order

denying Petitioners' motions for summary judgment was not appealable because it did not finally determine as a matter of law that Petitioners were not entitled to workers' compensation immunity. Appellees' Answer Brief, pages 3 - 12. Respondents thereafter moved to dismiss the appeal on the same grounds, and Petitioners filed a response. The District Court denied Respondents' motion to dismiss the appeal by order dated April 2, 1996.

The case was fully briefed and ready for resolution upon Petitioners' serving their reply briefs on March 19 and March 21, 1996.

Petitioners moved for to stay the action pending appeal, which the trial court denied. Petitioners filed a motion in the District Court under Rule 9.310(f), Fla.R.App.P. seeking review of the denial of their motion for stay. The District Court denied that motion in its April 2, 1996 order.

The case went to trial on June 10, 1996. On June 13, at the close of Respondents' case-in-chief, Petitioners moved for directed verdict on grounds of workers' compensation immunity, and the trial court granted the motions. Thereafter, the trial court entered judgment for Petitioners on the directed verdicts. This was error, because Petitioners' interlocutory appeals were still pending, so the trial court did not have jurisdiction to enter a final order, pursuant to Rule 9.130(f), Fla.R.App.P.¹ Respondents filed a

¹The judgments were submitted by and entered at the instance of Petitioners' counsel.

notice of appeal from the erroneously entered judgments. Case No. 96-2667, Notice of Appeal, 7/1/96, App.Doc. A. Petitioners, recognizing the judgments should not have been entered, moved to dismiss the appeals and vacate the erroneously entered judgments. By order dated July 19, 1996, the District Court granted Petitioners' motions, dismissed the second appeals and vacated the erroneously entered final judgments. Case No. 96-2667, D.C.Ord. 7/19/96, App.Doc. B.

The District Court issued its opinion dismissing the interlocutory appeal on July 31, 1996, and denied rehearing and rehearing en banc on September 30, 1996. Petitioners thereafter timely filed a Notice for Discretionary Review.

The Second District's opinion certified conflict with <u>Breakers</u>

<u>Palm Beach, Inc. v. Gloqer</u>, 646 So.2d 237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) and

<u>City of Lake Mary v. Franklin</u>, 668 So.2d 712 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996),

and certified the issue in this case to be a question of great

public importance and one affecting the efficient administration of

justice. Opin. page 26.

The gravamen of Plaintiff's action is that Petitioner Hastings, and through him ASC, were allegedly guilty of culpable negligence and intentional tort for not replacing the ladder cables which failed. Am.Compl. ¶ 65. However, the appendices to the parties' briefs before the District Court show a total lack of evidence to support the allegation of culpable negligence. There was no evidence of willful concealment of a known dangerous condition. There was no evidence of any disabling or removal of

safety features. There was no evidence of an intent to harm Respondent Charles Demming. There was no evidence that any Defendant had knowledge of any hazardous condition in the cable prior to its failure. There was no evidence that Petitioner Hastings had anything to do with the sign erection side of the business, of which the ladder trucks and their drivers were a part.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER AN APPELLATE COURT HAS JURISDICTION UNDER 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), FLA.R.APP.P. TO REVIEW A NON-FINAL ORDER DENYING A DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ASSERTING WORKERS' COMPENSATION IMMUNITY, WHEN THE ORDER DOES NOT FINALLY FORECLOSE THE DEFENDANT FROM PRESENTING THE DEFENSE AT TRIAL.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners seek review of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal holding that an order which merely denies a motion for summary judgment asserting workers' compensation immunity is not reviewable under Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), Fla.R.App.P. ("the Rule"). According to the Second District, only an order which finally precludes a defendant from asserting workers' compensation immunity at trial is appealable. Petitioners disagree and urge that the Rule allows for interlocutory appeal of any order denying a duly filed motion for summary judgment asserting entitlement to workers' compensation immunity. Petitioners urge that the District Court's construction of the rule is erroneous and that the District Court therefore erred in dismissing Petitioners' appeal.

The District Court's construction is erroneous as a matter of syntax. The Rule provides for appeal of orders "that determine that a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law." The position of the phrase "as a matter of law" indicates that it modifies "entitled," not "determine." If the intent of the Rule were for the phrase "as a matter of law" to modify "determine," then it would have provided for appeal of orders "that determine as a matter of law that a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity." It does not.

The Second District's ruling cannot be reconciled with this Court's statements of the intended application of the Rule. This Court has made it clear that the purpose of the Rule is to allow for interlocutory appeal of orders denying a motion for summary

judgment asserting workers' compensation immunity. Thus the Court intended for the phrase "as a matter of law" to have the same meaning it has in Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.510, governing summary judgment. The Second District's holding, that "as a matter of law" means that non-entitlement to immunity must be "finally determined" so that the defense cannot be presented at trial, attempts to give the phrase a different meaning.

Furthermore, an order denying summary judgment will rarely if ever - finally preclude presentation of the defense at trial, so
as to be appealable under the Second District's construction of the
Rule. Thus, the Second District's construction of the Rule is
inconsistent with that of this Court. Particularly in cases like
the instant case, where prima facie entitlement to immunity is
undisputed and the plaintiff is attempting to overcome it by
proving culpable negligence, the Second District's decision renders
the Rule a virtual dead letter.

The Second District's holding is also inconsistent with the overwhelming weight of precedent from this state's district courts, including the Second District in a prior decision. Since its promulgation in 1992, the district courts have easily, clearly, and frequently applied the Rule to review and reverse exactly the sort of case the Second District dismissed in the instant case. The Rule works well, and based on the frequency of its use, is apparently needed to assure the timely and proper enforcement of employers' entitlement to workers' compensation immunity. The District Court should have followed the colloquial maxim "if it

ain't broke, don't fix it", and declined to break with wellestablished precedent.

The Second District and Respondents explicitly argue the proposition that "finality" is required for an order to be appealable under the Rule. This proposition is a fallacy: by definition, an appealable non-final order need not be final to be appealable.

The Second District's construction of the Rule is contrary to the policy and purpose of the workers' compensation statutory The crystal clear intent of the Legislature in creating workers' compensation system, and enacting workers' compensation immunity, was to take work-place accidents out of the tort system. The aim of the legislative policy is to provide fast, no-fault compensation for injured workers, and relieve workers, employers, and society at large of the litigation costs associated with civil litigation. To deny an employer the prospect of obtaining relief from the costs of litigation resulting from a trial court's erroneous denial of summary judgment is unjust and contrary to public policy.

While it appears that the crux of the District Court's jurisdictional test is whether the defendant has been precluded from asserting workers' compensation immunity at trial, the District Court's jurisdictional analysis also turns on: 1) whether the non-existence of a material fact issue is "evident" from the record; 2) whether the record shows the trial court has, in an interlocutory order, "finally determined" the immunity issue; and

3) whether the trial court's determination was "as a matter of law." As a result of these related but not co-extensive formulations of the requisites for appellate jurisdiction, the Second District's test is subject to a wide range of interpretations, is impractical to apply, and does not provide a reasoned, principled and discernible basis for determining which orders are appealable and which are not.

In particular, the Second District's jurisdictional test can be, and has been, interpreted to mean that the non-existence of material fact issues is a requisite for appellate jurisdiction. However, the existence or non-existence of material fact issues, under a summary judgment analysis, is also the issue on the merits, not only in this case and but in nearly all reported cases under the Rule. Thus, by making appealability turn on whether summary judgment was denied because material fact issues exist, the Second District's test begs the question on the merits. It makes a simple and clear rule into 'a virtual non-rule: the merits determine jurisdiction, and jurisdiction the merits.

Likewise, the Second District's requirement that an order have been decided "as a matter of law" relies on the distinction between a summary judgment motion denied on the basis of "issues of fact" and one denied on the basis of "issues of law." This will inevitably result in wasteful, hair-splitting argument by parties and inconsistent, confusing precedents from the appellate courts.

Procedural confusion has already resulted from the Second District's excessively malleable jurisdictional test in the three

months since the court's decision. The First District has issued two opinions which purport to be consistent with or follow the District Court's opinion in the instant case, but which nevertheless reach the opposite result on indistinguishable facts.

The Second District raised the possibility of multiple interlocutory appeals as one rationale for its erroneous construction of the Rule. Of course, that is not at issue in the instant case. The Second District dismissed Petitioners first and only interlocutory appeal. Also, the District Court ignores the distinction, recognized in ACT Corp. v. Devane, 672So.2d 611 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), between a motion for summary judgment denied after completion of all appropriate discovery on the grounds that the trial court feels fact issues remain for the jury, and one denied because it is premature, in that discovery remains to be taken. The former is appealable, and this Court should rule in accordance with Devane that the latter is not. In the alternative, the problem could be simply and clearly solved by ruling that a party is entitled to only one interlocutory appeal under the Rule.

The Second District erred in dismissing Petitioner's interlocutory appeal, based on an erroneous construction of Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), Fla.R.App.P. The District Court's ruling should be reversed and the instant case remanded for consideration of Petitioners' appeal on the merits.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT HAD JURISDICTION UNDER FLA.R.APP.P.

9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi) TO REVIEW THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DENYING
PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ASSERTING WORKERS'

COMPENSATION IMMUNITY, AND THEREFORE ERRED IN DISMISSING
PETITIONER'S APPEAL.

A. The Basis for Supreme Court Jurisdiction, the Certified Question and the Parties' Basic Arguments.

Hastings petitions this court for discretionary review pursuant to Rules 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), and 9.030(a)(2)(B), Fla.R.App.P. The Second District certified conflict with decisions of the Fourth and Fifth Districts, and certified the following question to be of great public importance and to affect the efficient administration of justice:

DOES AN APPELLATE COURT HAVE JURISDICTION UNDER RULE 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), FLA.R.APP.P. TO REVIEW A NON-FINAL ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ASSERTING WORKERS' COMPENSATION IMMUNITY WHEN THE ORDER DOES NOT CONCLUSIVELY AND FINALLY DETERMINE A PARTY'S NON-ENTITLEMENT TO SUCH IMMUNITY, AS A MATTER OF LAW, BECAUSE OF THE EXISTENCE OF DISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS, SO THAT THE EFFECT OF THE ORDER IS TO LEAVE FOR A JURY'S DETERMINATION THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF'S EXCLUSIVE REMEDY IS WORKER'S COMPENSATION BENEFITS?

Opin. page 26.

As the District Court's certified question indicates, the issue in this case is the proper construction of Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), Fla.R.App.P. The Rule provides:

(3) Review of non-final orders of lower tribunals is limited to those that...(C) determine... that a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law.

Petitioners urge that the Rule allows for interlocutory appeal of an order denying a defendant's duly filed motion for summary judgment asserting the exclusivity provisions of §440.11, Florida

Statutes, commonly referred to as workers' compensation immunity. Petitioners urge that such an order is appealable even if the Trial Court has denied the motion on the grounds that the trial court found that issues of fact remain for determination by the jury, or if, as here, the basis for the trial court's ruling cannot be discerned either from the order or from the record.

Respondents have argued, and the District Court has agreed, that this rule authorizes an interlocutory appeal only when the trial court has finally determined that an employer is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity, so that the employer/defendant is precluded from presenting a workers' compensation defense at trial. Or, to state it in the converse, Respondents have argued that where the trial court merely denies summary judgment on a finding that issues of fact remain for the jury, such an order is not appealable. The District Court also bases jurisdiction on whether the defendant's entitlement to workers' compensation immunity is "evident" from the record, on whether the trial court's determination was "as a matter of law" or not, and on whether the record shows the "facts . . . were so fixed and definite that the court was in a position to determine [the immunity issue] clearly and conclusively, beyond doubt". Opin. pages 5 - 9.

Moreover, according to the District Court, if the basis for the order is not apparent on its face, an appeals court should review the record to discern the basis of the trial court's decision, in order to determine appealability. Opin. page 8.

B. The Second District's Construction of the Rule is Erroneous as a Matter of Syntax.

The Second District and Respondents have simply mis-construed the wording of the Rule. As Judge Klein pointed out in <u>Breakers</u>

Palm Beach, Inc. v. Gloger, if the intent of the rule was as urged by the Second District and Respondents, an alternative, unambiguous word order was available. In <u>Gloger</u> the court reasoned:

If the words "as a matter of law" had been placed at the beginning of the amendment, rather than at the end, appellees' argument would be persuasive. Under that scenario the rule would permit review of non-final orders which determine "as a matter of law that a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity". The key words, when placed at the beginning, modify "determine".

By placing the words at the end, however, the court gave the amendment a broader meaning. They modify "entitled". The denial of defendant's motion for summary judgment, because there were issues of fact, is an order determining that the defendant is "not entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law". We therefore deny the motion to dismiss.

646 So.2d at 238.

Judge Klein's reasoning is still the most cogent on this issue. This Court should approve <u>Gloger</u> and adopt Judge Klein's reasoning as the proper construction of the Rule.

C. This Court Has Ruled That the Rule Allows Interlocutory Review of Orders Denying Summary Judgment on Workers' Compensation Immunity, Including in Cases Indistinguishable From the Instant Case, and the Second District's Decision is Contrary to Such Ruling.

Decisions of this Court establish that the purpose of the Rule is to allow for interlocutory appeal of orders denying a motion for summary judgment asserting workers' compensation immunity. The Second District's ruling in the instant case is contrary to such intent and therefore contrary to the law as announced by this Court.

1. This Court Has Held that the Rule Allows Interlocutory Review of Orders Denying Summary Judgment on Workers' Compensation Immunity, Including in Cases Indistinguishable From the Instant Case.

This Court promulgated the Rule in 1992 in Mandico v. Taos Construction, 605 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1992). Prior to Mandico, there was authority for the proposition that interlocutory review of an order denying workers' compensation immunity was available by way of writ of prohibition, under Winn-Lovett Tampa v. Murphree, 78 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1954). In Mandico, the Fourth District reviewed by writ of prohibition the trial court's denial of the defendant's motion for summary judgment asserting workers' compensation immunity, and reversed. 605 So. 2d at 852. This Court affirmed the District Court's decision. Id. at 855. However, the Court held that prohibition was not the proper vehicle for obtaining such review, and instead amended Rule 9.130 to add the provision at issue in the instant case. Id. at 854-855. Thus Mandico implicitly and by definition stands for the proposition that the Rule is intended to allow interlocutory review of orders denying summary judgment on workers' compensation immunity.

Even more clear is this Court's ruling in Ramos v. Univision Holdings, 655 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1995). In Ramos, as in the instant case, the trial court denied the defendant's motion for summary judgment asserting worker's compensation immunity, and the defendant took an interlocutory appeal under the Rule. Id. at 90-91. The district court reversed the trial court, holding that the defendant, a property owner, was entitled to immunity in a suit by the employee of a sub-contractor. Id. at 90. On conflict review

before this Court, the defendant/property owner conceded that the district court had erred in holding that immunity applied, but urged this Court to affirm on the grounds that the owner had been entitled to summary judgment anyway under general negligence principles. <u>Id.</u> at 90-91. This Court declined to consider such arguments, because the general negligence issue "did not present the basis for the district court's jurisdiction of this interlocutory appeal." Id. at 91. The Court reasoned that:

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