# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FILORID® TILE

**HERBERT HASTINGS and** AMERICAN SIGN COMPANY, INC., a Florida corporation,

Petitioners.

CAS AN SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 89,130

V.

**Second District Court of Appeal** Case No. 96-00368

NFC 16 19961

CHARLES DEMMING and DIANA DEMMING, Husband and Wife,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENTS' AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

**ALLYSON PALMER, ESQUIRE** Florida Bar # 0040258 **GRAVES & PALMER CHARTERED** 2014 Fourth Street Sarasota, Florida 34237 (941) 953-6720 Telephone (941) 366-7331 Fax Attorneys for Respondents

###

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

(5). The Order Denying Hastings Motion For Summary Judgment Is Not Appealable Pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(iv).

Pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. **9.130(a)(3)(C)(iv)**, a non-final order is directly appealable provided that "the order determines that a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law." The Order denying Hastings' motion for summary judgment did not determine that Hastings was not entitled to the defense of workers' compensation immunity <u>as a matter of law.</u>

(a). The Subject Order Merely Determined That Factual Issues Must Be Resolved Before A Determination Can Be Made As A Matter of Law With Respect To Workers' Compensation Immunity.

Presently, at the trial level, the affirmative defense of workers' compensation immunity is alive and well with respect to Hastings in that the lower court has ruled that Hastings is immune from suit as a policy making employee except for conduct which is culpably negligent in the first degree or worse (see footnote 1). The court has ruled that factual issues exist which must be resolved before it can be determined whether or not the conduct of Hastings amounts to culpable negligence in the first degree, or some sort of less culpable conduct to which Hastings would be immune pursuant to the workers' compensation exclusivity provision. Therefore, Hastings may or may not be immune from the cause of action which Respondent will prove; however, that decision cannot now be made. No decision with respect to workers' compensation immunity has yet been made as a matter of law.

(b). To The Extent That Hastings Motion For Summary Judgment Or His Initial Brief Purport To Argue Failure To State A Cause of Action Upon Which Relief Can Be Granted Because Hastings Is Immune From The Cause of Action Pled Under The Workers'Compensation Exclusivity Provision, These Issues May Not Be Considered By The Appellate Court.

Hastings served a preanswer motion to dismiss based on the affirmative defense of failure to state a cause of action, on May 18, 1995. An order denying the motion was entered on July 21, 1995. More than thirty (30) days have past since the entry of the order denying the motion to dismiss and Hastings has failed to file a notice of appeal pursuant to that order. Under Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(b), Hastings has failed to invoke appellate review of that non-final order and may not now attempt to do so through the back door. Pursuant to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.140(b), Hastings could not have raised the issue of failure to state a cause of action for a second time in a motion for summary judgment, after having had that affirmative defense denied pursuant to his motion to dismiss the complaint. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1 .140 (b) permits the pleader to bring the affirmative defense of failure to state a cause of action as a preanswer motion to dismiss Qr as an affirmative defense in the answer and affirmative defenses, which may be the subject of a summary judgment motion; but, the rule prohibits Hastings from bringing the same affirmative defense in both a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary judgment. For purposes of this appeal, the trial court order which denied Hastings' motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a cause of action for culpable negligence in the first degree (which is an exception to the workers' compensation exclusivity provision and to which Hastings is not immune) must stand as an interlocutory order with no right to direct appeal because the lower court has made a final determination on the issue of the sufficiency of the complaint to state a cause of action to which Hastings is <u>not</u> immune under §440.11, and more than thirty (30) days have passed during which Hastings has failed to file a notice of appeal. Hastings has lost his right to a direct appeal of that determination. In that the only two (2) theories upon which Hastings attempted or purports to have attempted to base his motion for summary judgment are (1) failure to support a necessary element with record evidence, and (2) failure to state a cause of action for culpable negligence in the first degree, are not (or at least with respect to (2), no longer) appealable under Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), his appeal must be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

### (6). The Order Denying ASC's Motion For Summary Judgment Is Not Appealable Under Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi).

ASC did not file a motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action. ASC did raise failure to state a cause of action as an affirmative defense in its answer and affirmative defenses. However, ASC failed to notice the defense of failure to state a cause of action for hearing, and failed to file a motion for summary judgment based on a failure to state a cause of action. At the hearing on ASC's motion for summary judgment, counsel for ASC attempted to argue the affirmative defense of failure to state a cause of action but counsel for Respondent objected. ASC failed to notice that affirmative defense for hearing and it is better suited to a motion to dismiss because Respondent would be entitled to leave of court to amend. Counsel for ASC acknowledged in open court upon inquiry by the trial judge that he had not noticed the issue for hearing. Respondent's counsel argued that the question would be a threshold question in any event because even if the complaint does fail to state a cause of action, Respondent would have leave to amend because he has not abused the amendment process, nor has ASC put forth evidence that conclusively and irrefutably disproves any element of the claim for culpable negligence in the first degree; therefore, it would not be appropriate to enter summary judgment. Although counsel for ASC argued against that point in open court claiming it was not a threshold question, page 5 of ASC's initial brief filed in the Second District indicates that counsel for ASC has adopted the theory of Respondent's counsel in stating "This is a threshold question." The point herein raised is that the lower court has not yet ruled on the issue

of the sufficiency of the allegations against ASC to state a claim for culpable negligence in the first degree, therefore, the issue is not ripe for appeal pursuant to Fla. R. App. R. 9.1380(a)(3)(C)(vi). Further, like Hastings, ASC may not attempt to wrongfully shift onto Respondent the burden of establishing through record evidence support for each element of his cause of action by purporting to be entitled to a judgment as a matter of law because Respondent has failed to create a genuine issue of material fact. Such is not permissible under Florida law, nor does it constitute an affirmative defense and therefore, would not be appealable under 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi) and further, the subject order made no determination as a matter of law, (even if the Court is willing to consider this improper basis for bringing a summary judgment motion) because the trial court merely ruled that questions of fact remain to be determined before a question of workers' compensation immunity may be decided as a matter of law.

In conclusion, neither the order denying ASC's motion for summary judgment, nor the order denying Hastings' motion for summary judgment makes any determination <u>as a matter of law</u>, nor does it determine that any party is not entitled to the defense of workers' compensation immunity <u>as a matter of law</u>. Neither Hastings, nor ASC are in a posture to raise the issue of the sufficiency of the allegations in the complaint to state a cause of action for culpable negligence in the first degree; therefore, this appeal could have been dismissed for lack of jurisdiction on this additional basis.

II.

# PETITIONERS' ARGUMENT IS PREDICATED ON A MISAPPREHENSION OF THE LAW AS TO THE MERITS OF THE APPEAL WHICH. WHEN CORRECTED, WILL FURTHER DEMONSTRATE THE VALIDITY OF RESPONDENTS' INTERPRETATION OF RULE 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi)

The Petitioners have argued the following points for consideration on the merits by the lower courts. The legal theory argued by Petitioners may fairly be summarized as follows:

A significant number of Florida cases have considered whether or not certain conduct rises to the level of conduct which falls within the exception to § 440.1 I(I) employer immunity under the Workers' Compensation Act. The Appellees herein neither alleged an intentional tort on the part of the Appellants (Defendants below), nor made a prima facia showing in their case-in-chief at trial of an intentional tort on the part of the Appellants. The reported cases which have considered the Appellate Court's jurisdiction to accept interlocutory appeals pursuant to Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi) have consistently dispensed with substantive analysis of procedural law in Florida and have simply cut-to-the-chase, evaluated the allegations and/or proofs to determine whether or not the employee's claim passes muster under the intentional tort

standard for triggering the § 440.1 1(1) exception, supposedly set forth in Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Company, 498 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1986). As such, Appellants should be entitled to this same leap of procedural and substantive review and be freed from the potential liability of Appellees' claim, in the same speedy fashion as those litigants who came before Appellants based upon the many reported decisions on the issue of workers' compensation immunity and the exceptions thereto.<sup>2</sup>

The only way to demonstrate the multi-tiered legal error of Petitioners' argument and, moreover, demonstrate the correctness of the Second District's decision to dismiss the interlocutory appeal for lack of jurisdiction, is to trace the origin of the legal error which underlies the entire body of case law relied upon by Petitioners throughout the appeal sub judice. In Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Company. 498 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1986), the Supreme Court of Florida established the following precedent:

In order for an employer's actions to amount to an intentional tort, the employer must either exhibit a deliberate intent to injure or engage in conduct which is substantially certain to result in injury or death.

<u>Id.</u> at 883. At the time the Florida Supreme Court decided the case of <u>Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Company</u>, Florida Statute § 440.1 I(I) of Florida's Workers' Compensation Act did not contain either, (a) explicit language recognizing an exception to the statutory affirmative defense therein created for employers, nor (b) explicit language establishing that the immunity therein created existed without exception. In other words, at the time <u>Fisher</u> was decided, § 440.1 1(1) was silent as to whether or not the law recognized any exception to the immunity from liability of an employer that was created in § 440.1 I(I).

As such a public policy position with respect thereto had begun to take shape within the districts below which gave rise in the districts to the consideration of judicially recognizing an exception to employer immunity under § 440.1 1(1) for conduct which rose to the level of intentional tort. The argument for such a judicially recognized exception was, essentially, that as a matter of public policy, employers should not be immune from civil liability for harm to employees which the employers purposefully caused. The Fisher Court specifically rejected any consideration of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In fact, in Hastings' initial brief to the Second District and motion to stay, Hastings went so far as to characterize the process for final resolution advocated by the Appellants as a "fast track" disposition of an employee's claim which has become "a trend among the districts".

validity of such a judicially recognized exception to § 440.1 1(1) employer immunity for intentional tort.

In Fisher, the Florida Supreme Court restated the certified question as follows:

WHETHER AN EMPLOYER COMMITS AN INTENTIONAL TORT WHEN HE ORDERS HIS EMPLOYEE TO WORK INSIDE A PIPE WHICH THE EMPLOYER KNOWS TO BE FILLED WITH DANGEROUS GAS THAT WILL IN ALL PROBABILITY RESULT IN INJURY TO THE EMPLOYEE.

Fisher at 883. The Fisher Court went on to say, "[t]herefore, we need not answer the question framed by the District Court and, instead we answer the restated question in the negative." Fisher. 498 So. 2d 882, 884 (Fla. 1986). In other words, the Fisher Court never considered nor determined whether or not it was appropriate for Florida courts to recognize an exception to employer immunity in cases where the conduct of the employer which proximately caused the injury constituted an intentional tort. (See also, Lawton v. Aloine Engineered Products. Inc., 498 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 1986).) Rather, the Fisher Court considered the necessary elements for asserting a claim sounding in intentional tort. Fisher, relying on the Restatement, determined that the complaint under review therein did not allege the necessary elements of an intentional tort. Beginning with the final three words on Page 883 of Volume 498 So.2d whereat the Fisher decision is reported, the Eisher Court cited to the Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 500 f, and stated, "a strong probability is different from substantial certainty and cannot constitute intentional wrongdoing. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 500 f (1965)." The preceding quote constituted an effort on the part of the Fisher Court to contrast the necessary elements of "intentional tort" with the necessary elements of "recklessness", in order to emphasize a point of law, to-wit: substantial certainty that harm will result from defendant's course of conduct must be alleged in order to state a cause of action sounding in "intentional tort"; whereas, a strong probability that harm will so result, is enough to state a claim for "recklessness": however, it is not sufficient to state a claim for "intentional tort". The use by the Fisher Court of this method of contrasting the "intentional tort" standard with the "recklessness" standard is a matter of great significance and, as will be explained below, by 1993, once taken out of context and misapprehended by the court in Eller v. Shova. 630 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1993), it can be identified as the precise legal error by which all the subsequent wrongly decided cases in this area of law were forced off course.

Three (3) years after Fisher, the Florida Supreme Court decided the case of Streator v. Sullivan, 509 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1987). The Streator v. Sullivan case addressed a related, yet distinguishable, issue, to-wit: does the exception to immunity under § 440.1 1(1) for grossly negligent conduct extend to the conduct of co-employees who are sole proprietors, officers, directors of a corporation, and other types of managerial/supervisory personnel. The Streator Court determined that the gross negligence exception did, in fact, extend to such managerial-type co-employees, As a result, in 1988 the Florida Legislature amended § 440.1 1(1) by adding the following language: "The same immunity provisions enjoyed by an employer shall also apply to any sole proprietor, partner, corporate officer or director, supervisor, or other person who in the course and scope of his duties acts in a managerial or policy making capacity, and the conduct which caused the alleged injury arose within the course and scope of said managerial or policy making duties and was not a violation of law, whether or not a violation was charged, for which the maximum penalty which may be imposed exceeds 60 days imprisonment as set forth in § 775.082." (Florida Statutes § 440.1 1(1); see also, Streator v. Sullivan, 509 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1987); and, Eller v. Shova, 630 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1993).)

By virtue of the 1988 Amendment to § 440.1 1(1), the question as to whether or not "intentional tort" constituted an exception to employer immunity under § 440.1 1(1) (which was soecifically left undecided by both the Bisher and Lawton decisions became moot. 3, "intentional tort" was no longer a possibly viable threshold for triggering a judicially recognized exception to employer immunity under § 440.1 I(I) as a matter of public policy, in that, in 1988 the Florida Legislature had explicitly set forth that the employer/managerial type-employee immunity created under § 440.1 1(1) was indeed not absolute, and moreover, specifically set out the threshold for triggering the exception, to-wit: conduct which rises to the level of a first degree misdemeanor under Florida criminal law. (Florida Statutes § 440.11 (I).) (See also Eller v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In *Eller v.* Shova, it was erroneously asserted in dicta that Fisher and *Lawton* stand for the proposition that "intentional tort" was recognized as the exception to § 440.1 1(1) employer immunity (*Eller v. Shova*, 630 So. 2d 537, 539 (Fla. 1993)); although, neither *Fisher* nor *Lawton* reached that question.

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